RECEIVED
FEB 18 2021
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals
[In the Supreme Court]

APPEAL BRIEF FROM Craig Molloy and Island Group, Inc.
d/b/a Carolina Cleaning
Court of Common Pleas

Appellate Case No. 2018-002170

Lower Court Case No. 2016-CP-07-01825

Steven Craig Molloy and Island Group, Inc.
d/b/a Carolina Cleaning

Plaintiffs

Of which Steven Craig Molloy is the

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Did the Lower Court err in granting Summary Judgment when Appellants were deprived of a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery? Yes.

2. Did the lower court err in granting Summary Judgment saying the 2-year Statute of Limitations is time-barred when Appellant had no knowledge of Bid-Rigging, Price Fixing, and a Breach of Contract Accompanied with a Fraudulent Act until reception of Freedom of Information, and the unconscionable, fraudulent actions taken by Respondents to violate Procurement by the Procurement Director and other Respondents? Yes.

3. Did the lower court err in granting Summary Judgment when Appellant had reason to believe that the Respondents acted outside the scope of their job duties in violation of South Carolina Procurement Code as a Genuine Issue of Material Fact? Yes.

4. Did the lower court err in granting Summary Judgment when Appellants provided to the lower court Preponderance of the Evidence demonstrating by and through inter office emails the lack of Good Faith, and the unconscionable fraudulent actions taken by Respondents in Unfair Trade Practices? Yes.

5. By going all in with the time barred defense, the defendants went about to confuse, spin and in hopes to avoid having to tell the whole truth thus, committing fraud, lie to the Lower Court, thus giving Defendants the benefit to attempt to avoid the other causes; “contract interference” and “anti-competitive practices with a fraudulent intent” to which they have never addressed.
Did the defendants deceive, use fraud, and lie to the lower Court? Yes.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Statement of the Case

This case is about violation of South Carolina Consolidated Procurement Code and Breach of a 2010 Contract with a Fraudulent Act, where Respondents Bid-Rigged, and Price Fixed and evidence exists and has been presented showing Unfair Trade Practices, behind closed doors for the sole benefit of Beaufort County by bid-rigging the BCDSN Board to be awarded a separate, 2012 RFP, and subsequent RFP's and janitorial contracts. Appellants further contend the threshold of Preponderance of the Evidence was met and ignored (or not noticed) by the lower court, and the Statute of Limitations is NOT (could not be) "time-barred" in accordance with SC Torts Claim Act, that Prima Facie evidence is present, that Genuine Issues of Material Facts were present, and that Respondents [Defendants] in their internal emails and written affidavits give rise to Genuine Issues of Material Fact through their countless contradictions, and a Case and Controversy in their willful and deceptive actions and cover up. That the Lower Court erred in granting Summary Judgment on November 27, 2018, when Appellants [Plaintiffs] were not given fair and full opportunity to conduct discovery, where the Procurement Director, and other Respondents openly admitted in inter-office emails that they changed the 2012 RFP to the benefit of Beaufort County DSN and the Beaufort County DSN Board.

Steven Craig Molloy commenced this action, in his right, on August 22, 2016, on behalf of Island Group Inc. d/b/a Carolina Cleaning and its' shareholders. The Defendants [Respindents] are named above and are accused of violations herein.

Appellants allege, and provide exhibits to show Beaufort County and numerous employees, the Beaufort County DSN Board, and the Beaufort County DSN program and the named Defendants are the direct cause of irreparable harm to the Appellants 25 - year janitorial business, where 18 years was spent servicing Beaufort County with repeat awarded (binding) contracts for professional janitorial services, Appellant believed that based on the past professionalism between the two parties that "Good Faith" and "fair dealings" would continue with the awarded latest 2010, 5-year term Contractual Agreement.

Appellants contend that Respondents [Defendants] written affidavits, in fact conflict each other, **(emphasis added) (ROA p114 L 11 & L 20 Supp ROA p.304 L 24)** and give rise to Genuine Issues of Material Fact and a Case and Controversy in their willful and deceptive cover up by their word and actions to remove 33% of the 2010 awarded \$70,000.00 dollar per month contract. And the Defendants willful and deceptive act of bid-rigging, price fixing, lack of good faith, and unfair trade practices used in the 2012 (separately) awarded contract to Beaufort County, DSN.

The complaint alleged that the named Respondents over a 4-year period from 2010 - 2014 intentionally, unconscionably, willful, deceptive committed fraudulent acts which rendered Steven Craig Molloy's company Island Group Inc. d/b/a Carolina Cleaning inoperable. Carolina Cleaning was a 25-year Janitorial Business with 18-years of providing janitorial services to Beaufort County. In 2010, the latest contract was awarded to Carolina Cleaning for another 5-year contract term (2010-2015) with Beaufort County to provide janitorial services for most of the county buildings. The Defendants did not have to disrupt the Appellants 2010 separate

awarded contract, the exhibits show Beaufort County willfully chose to disrupt Appellants 2010 contract, and later, blocked Appellants from retrieving information that show violations.

The complaint alleged that Beaufort County, price fixed and bid-rigged a 2012 public “open market” Request for Proposals (RFP) which gave the Beaufort County DSN Board an unfair advantage over other bidders to include Island Group Inc. dba. Carolina Cleaning, and that the named Respondents and others within BC, in their official capacity and unofficial capacity actively worked in a willing, deceptive, unfair, fraudulent, and unconscionable manner to award the 2012 RFP to Beaufort County DSN Board, and Beaufort County DSN. **(ROA p108 – 1st pg of 2010 contract, D)**

The parties agreed to mediation, which ended in impasse: *See 12/11/17 Record of Pleadings*

(1) At the time of the Procurement Code Violations regarding the 2012 RFP, Beaufort County, Beaufort County DSN Board, and Beaufort County DSN program was and still is a governmental entity subject to the South Carolina Tort Claims Act; South Carolina Consolidated Procurement Code; and Budget and Control Board Procurement Regulations. **(ROA p 32 – Governors letter)**

(2) the Procurement Director Dave Thomas per his 2012 & 2013 emails; in fact allowed Beaufort County DSN employees attend Pre- bid Request for Proposal meetings where “confidential proprietary” information of Carolina Cleaning was discussed to include samples of supplies used by Carolina Cleaning knowing in fact that the Beaufort County DSN Board [Governmental

entity] would be a competing bidder and submitting a Request for Proposal for the 2012 “open market” Request. **(ROA p. 149 – Thomas 2012 & 2013 emails)**

(3) That Procurement Director, Dave Thomas in inter-office emails in fact, specifically stated that he changed the 2012 RFP to benefit Beaufort County DSN Board and the Beaufort County DSN in order to save Beaufort County’s declining budget. Statement by Respondents confirm that Beaufort County did not have the funds to pay Carolina Cleaning.

(4) That Gary Kubic, Beaufort County Administrator, and Bryan Hill, Former Beaufort County Deputy Administrator, Josh Gruber, Beaufort County, In-House Attorney and Dave Thomas, Procurement Director are all members of the Beaufort County Government at the time of the alleged violations. In a 9/2015 meeting with Appellant, before this suit, Kubic acknowledging violations stating to Appellant “that is what why we have insurance”

The lawsuit was commenced on August 22, 2016, 1-year after the alleged act of bid-rigging, price fixing, unfair trade practices, and Procurement Code violations was discovered by Craig Molloy through FOIA received through September 2015.

(ROA – p 157 – timeline of foia)

On July 21, 2017, Beaufort County and other named Defendants moved for Summary Judgment on four (4) grounds:

(1) That the action was time-barred by the 2-year Statute of Limitation and claimed the action was brought beyond the limits set forth in such statute; and

(2) Claims failed on Procurement Code process

(3) Claims failed on Remedies under Beaufort County Procurement Code and;

(4) Claims against Respondents as a governmental entity are not liable for a tort claim under S.C. Torts Claim Act. ROA See Motion for Summary Judgment filed 7/21/17

On February 25, 2018, Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Compel Answers to Discovery and Depositions, Motion to Amend.

On March 22, 2018, Defendants filed a Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion to Compel Answers to Discovery and Depositions, Motion to Amend on March 23, 2018 the Motion for Summary Judgment was heard by the Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III on November 27, 2018, Judge Dukes granted Summary Judgment to Beaufort County and Co-Defendants.

(ROA supp – p 48) The order was Emailed on November 29, 2018 and received by Plaintiffs' counsel on November 29, 2018.

On March 23, 2018, during the scheduled hearing on the Motions the Appellants assert that the court failed to address Genuine Issues of Material Fact, failed to rule on the Plaintiffs Motion to Compel Discovery and Depositions and granted Summary Judgment to the Defendants. Counsel further asserted that the court failed to address the two-year statute of limitations of the South Carolina Tort Claims Act, *S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110* as to when the Appellant could have or should have known about the unconscionable fraudulent actions of Bid-Rigging, Price Fixing, Unfair Trade Practices, and Respondents willfully, and deceptively colluding in inter-office

emails to price fix and bid-rig to the benefit of Beaufort County DSN Board and Beaufort County DSN. (ROA p. 149 – Thomas 2012 & 2013 emails)

Standard of Review

A trial court may properly grant a motion for summary judgment when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." Rule 56(c), SCRPC; Tupper v. Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997), however, in determining whether any triable issues of fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Manning v. Quinn, 294 S.C. 383, 365 S.E.2d 24 (1988). Appellant alleges that the lower court erred in granting Summary Judgment a drastic remedy which should have been cautiously invoked so that a litigant is not improperly deprived of a trial on disputed factual issues. Baughman v. American Tel. and Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991). Disputed factual issues and Motions that that were never addressed during the March 23, 2018 hearing.

Appellant alleges that on appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard that governs the trial court. The appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the appellant, the non-moving party below. Osborne v. Adams, 346 S.C. 4, 7, 550 S.E.2d 319, 321 (2001); Williams v. Chesterfield Lumber Co., 267 S.C. 607, 230 S.E.2d 447

(1976). Why did the lower court refuse to rule on the Appellant [Plaintiffs] Motion to Compel Discovery and Depositions of Respondents as required as a matter of law for the granting of Summary Judgment?

Issue I

Did the Lower Court err in granting Summary Judgment when Appellants were deprived of a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery and address the inter-office emails of Procurement Director Dave Thomas, Mitzi Wagner, Alicia Holland, Shannon Loper, and other County employees regarding their part in changing the 2012 RFP specifications, shown in Thomas emails to lower specifications for BC DSN (emphasis added) giving DSN a clear advantage.

These changes were only for BC DSN and **NOT** provided for the other participating bidders, (a clear Procurement Violation) the 2012 RFP was an “open market” RFP to include Appellant Steven Craig Molloy, Island Group Inc. d/b/a Carolina Cleaning and other professional companies

- a. As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, why didn't Beaufort County Procurement require the Beaufort County DSN Board to adhere to the same “minimum required specifications” for the 2012 Request for Proposal as all other bidders including the Appellant?

As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, why did the Beaufort County Purchasing Director, Dave Thomas, in fact, allow the Beaufort County DSN Board to change the “2012 RFP “minimum required specifications? **ROA p. 149 – Thomas 2012 & 2013 emails)**

- b. As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, Respondents claim, that they did not have to submit a proposal in 2012, then why did they? Respondents [Beaufort County DSN Board] submitted an “open market” bid for the R2012 RFP and were awarded a contract as a Vendor ? Not as a Department of the County.
- c. As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, why was Shannon Loper, in fact, telling the Purchasing Director, Dave Thomas to send a 30-day written notice [per inter-office emails] December 5, 2012 because she refused to have any further communication with the Appellant, which as a matter of law, acting outside the scope of her job duties?
(ROA p. 149 – Thomas 2012 & 2013 emails)
- d. As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, why would the lower court ignore the FOIA request information and the Court requested timelines that demonstrate the Appellant could not have known of the willful, deception, and the fraudulent actions of the Respondents until reception of the FOIA requests (in September, 2015) and then grant Summary Judgment?

As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, Respondents claim that they were in compliance with all South Carolina State Law, then why wasn't the Appellant CC'd on the 2012 and 2013 inter-office County emails showing defendants discussing favoring BC DSN for the 2012 RFP and showing anti-competitive practices and contract interferrance with the separate 2010 contract already awarded to the Appellants company. These emails only between Respondents including

BC Procurement Director Thomas where he references South Carolina Procurement violations?

(ROA p. 149 – Thomas 2012 & 2013 emails)

- e. As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, why did Judge Marvin Dukes not require Depositions in what he describes as a “complex case” evidenced and described by Judge Dukes from the Transcript and where legal questions and subject matter are obvious, unanswered, incomplete and are matters of fact in the record in the March 23, 2018 hearing and per the transcript? **(ROA - p. 162, L 22 ; 3/23/2018 transcript)**
- f. As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, why did the lower court ignore Prime Facie evidence from internal BC emails that in fact show Respondents discussing bid-rigging and fixing pricing for a bid by an unqualified contractor, by South Carolina Laws definition and the requirements in and open market RFP that the contractor in fact must have a South Carolina license to do business.
- g. As a Genuine Issue of Material Fact, in accordance with South Carolina State law, why did Beaufort County allow the unqualified, with no business license, Beaufort County DSN Board to submit a bid in 2012 in an “open market” RFP a bid for janitorial work in violation of South Carolina Consolidated Procurement, and Beaufort County RFP 2012 specifications for other 2012 RFP bidders?

Under Rule 56 (c) Summary Judgment is only proper when “there is no Genuine Issue of Material Fact ; *Baughman v. American Tel. Tel. Co., 306 S.C. 101, 114-15; 410 S.E. 2d.537, 545 (1991)*”. Determining whether Summary Judgment is appropriate, the evidence and its reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the

non-moving party, *Id. 115, 410 S.E. 2d 545*. Summary Judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery *Id. 112, 410 S.E. 2d 543*. Appellants assert that granting Summary Judgment was premature and that it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment "should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." *Watson v. Southern Ry. Co., 420 F. Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C. 1975)*; see also *Holloman v. McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E. (2d) 728, 729 (1986)* ("an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked"). This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery. *Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 2741, p. 543 (1983)*.

Respondents claim their Affidavits are ample discovery, this is not true and Defendants affidavits have material issues of fact and countless conflicting statements yet to be cleared. In fact, four (4) Respondents have failed to provide Affidavits, BC Councilmen Stu Rodman, BC Administrator Gary Kubic, BC Attorney Josh Gruber and BC Deputy Administrator Bryan Hill. All other Affidavits of Respondents have material misrepresentations of the facts, conflicting statements, which must be explained and challenged in order for due process and true fact finding to occur. And NO Defendants showed (all refused) for convenient pre-scheduled depositions.

Issue II

Did the lower court err in granting Summary Judgment regarding the 2-year Statute of Limitations is time-barred when Appellant had no knowledge or could have known about the

Bid-Rigging, price fixing, Unfair Trade Practices and the “unconscionable” Breach of Contract Accompanied with a Fraudulent Act until receipt of Freedom of Information, and the unconscionable, fraudulent actions by Respondents to violate South Carolina Consolidated Procurement by Bid-Rigging and Price Fixing by the Procurement Director and other Respondents revealed in their inter-office email communications?

The S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110 provides the following statute of limitations regarding lawsuits against governmental entities: Except as provided for in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-40, any action brought pursuant to this chapter is forever barred unless an action is commenced within two years after the date the loss was or should have been discovered. Respondents claim that the Statute of Limitations is time-barred. Appellant asserts that the original action was filed within the 2-year statute, based on the received FOIA email documents from Joy Nelson of Beaufort County.

(ROA – p. 157, foia timeline)

[From: Nelson, Joy <jnelson@bcgov.net>

Date: Wed, Sep 24, 2014 at 3:41 PM

Good Afternoon Mr. Molloy, Please see the attachments in response to your Freedom of Information Act request dated **September 10, 2014 asking for all communications regarding RFP 3910-120-221**. An extensive search has been made with each individual named in the request. The first attachment above is labeled emails. This is all email communication found in regard to RFP 3910-120-221. The other attachments are files/memos included in those emails.]

In response to the claims by Respondents, Appellant asserts that this confirmation email demonstrates that the Appellant would or could not have known of the willful, deceptive, and the fraudulent actions of the Respondents to undo the 2010 awarded contract and the lengths to which Respondents would go to keep the Appellant and other bidders from being awarded the 2012 RFP. **(ROA – p. 157, foia timeline)**

Respondents claim that the Statute of Limitations is time-barred, fails. The unconscionable, willful, deceptive fraudulent actions, and bid-rigging was not revealed until the acquisition of the FOIA documents, not as they claim at the June 2014 termination. This case was never about the termination of the contract, this case is and always has been about their actions and the manner listed above of which the Respondents rendered Carolina Cleaning ineffective and unsustainable.

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