**RECEIVED**  
**Aug 25 2020**  
**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas for the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit  
Hon. Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity

---

Appellate Case No. 2018-002170

---

Steven Craig Molloy and Island Group, Inc., d/b/a Carolina  
Cleaning ..... Plaintiffs

Of which Steven Craig Molloy is the ..... Appellant

v.

Beaufort County; Gary Kubic, Individually, and as Beaufort  
County Administrator; Josh Gruber, Individually and as former  
Beaufort County In-House Attorney; Bryan Hill, Individually and

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

Mr. Molloy cannot show that he was the real party in interest in this case; to the contrary, non-appellant Carolina Cleaning was the only real party in interest:

[T]he defendants invoked the "real party in interest" requirement of Rule 17(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, which provides, "Every action shall be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest." A real party in interest is "the party who, by the substantive law, has the right sought to be enforced. It is

ownership of the right sought to be enforced which qualifies one as a real party in interest.” *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Draper*, 405 S.C. 214, 220, 746 S.E.2d 478, 481 (Ct. App. 2013); *see also* 6A Charles Alan Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1541 (3d ed. 2010) (stating Rule 17(a) provides “that the action should be brought in the name of the party who possesses the substantive right being asserted under the applicable law....”); 6 Cyclopedia of Federal Procedure § 21.7 (3d ed., rev. 2017) (“The ‘real party in interest’ ... is defined as the person holding the substantive right to be enforced, and not necessarily the person who will ultimately benefit from the recovery.”).

*See Patton v. Miller*, 420 S.C. 471, 479, 804 S.E.2d 252, 256 (2017), reh'g denied (Sept. 27, 2017).

The mere fact that a person or entity is a shareholder of a corporation does not make him a real party in interest on a corporate claim. *See WeSav Fin. Corp. v. Lingefelt*, 316 S.C. 442, 444, 450 S.E.2d 580, 582 (1994) (“However, the RTC's status as a shareholder does not make it the real party in interest.”). Mr. Molloy is not the real party in interest as to any claims, because he does not own the right sought to be enforced. To the contrary, only Carolina Cleaning owned such right and could be a real party-in-interest.

It is apparent that Carolina Cleaning cannot possibly be a party to this appeal, since there is no attorney of record and Mr. Molloy is proceeding *pro se*. A corporate entity may not appear *pro se* in Circuit Court or the Court of Appeals. *See Doe v. McMaster*, 355 S.C. 306, 313, 585 S.E.2d 773, 777 (2003) (“We explicitly rejected a corporation's ability to appear *pro se* in a state circuit or appellate court.”); *accord Brown v. Coe*, 365 S.C. 137, 140, 616 S.E.2d 705, 707, *order clarified*, 365 S.C. 664, 620 S.E.2d 323 (2005) (“[A] non-lawyer cannot represent a corporation in circuit or appellate courts.”).

For the foregoing reasons, because Mr. Molloy (the only appellant in this case) is not a real party in interest, this Court should affirm the trial court's entry of summary judgment in favor of all Defendants.

**B. Plaintiff Mr. Molloy Was Not Deprived of a Full and Fair Opportunity to Conduct Discovery (Mr. Molloy's Issue I)**

Mr. Molloy first argues that Judge Dukes erred in entering summary judgment because he was “deprived of a full and fair opportunity to conduct discovery.” (*See Init. Appellant's Br.*, at

15). For the reasons that follow, Judge Dukes correctly entered summary judgment and did not deprive Mr. Molloy of the ability to conduct necessary discovery.

Under South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 56(f), "[s]hould it appear from the affidavits of a party opposing the motion that he cannot for reasons stated present by affidavit facts essential to justify his opposition, the court may refuse the application for judgment or may order a continuance to permit affidavits to be obtained or depositions to be taken or discovery to be had or may make such order as is just." "Rule 56(f) requires the party opposing summary judgment to at least present affidavits explaining why he needs more time for discovery." *Matter of Estate of Smith*, 419 S.C. 111, 123, 796 S.E.2d 158, 164 (Ct. App. 2016), reh'g denied (Feb. 24, 2017) (quoting *Doe ex rel. Doe v. Batson*, 345 S.C. 316, 321, 548 S.E.2d 854, 857 (2001)). Respectfully, Mr. Molloy has never made the required showing under Rule 56(f), either in this Court or the trial court. As set forth below (and in Defendants' filings in the trial court), summary judgment was appropriate in this case because of several indisputable facts and information within the possession of Mr. Molloy and his trial counsel. Mr. Molloy has not explained precisely what information he expects to uncover in discovery that would defeat the straightforward grounds for summary judgment asserted by Defendants. To the contrary, Judge Dukes' cogent analysis would remain the same, irrespective of anything Plaintiff might uncover with further investigation or discovery.

Because appellant Mr. Molloy has not made a proper showing under Rule 56(f), this Court should affirm the trial court's grant of summary judgment as to all claims.

**C. Plaintiff Mr. Molloy Cannot Produce a Scintilla of Evidence Supporting Any Claims**

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Mr. Molloy could conceivably be a real party in interest in this case for injuries allegedly sustained by a corporation he owned, it is clear that the trial court properly entered summary judgment in favor of Defendants on the merits of this case. Notwithstanding any arguments Mr. Molloy makes in his Brief, it is apparent that — for several quite simple reasons — Defendants were entitled to summary judgment in this matter because: (a) Mr. Molloy's tort claims are time-barred; (b) Defendant Beaufort County was entitled to

terminate the 2010 Contract; and (c) Mr. Molloy and Carolina Cleaning failed to avail themselves of the protest process, which precludes any claims regarding the proposal process.

**1. The Trial Court Correctly Held That the Tort Claims Are Time-Barred (Mr. Molloy's Issue II)**

The SCTCA "is the *exclusive* civil remedy available for any tort committed by a government entity, its employees, or its agents except as provided in § 15-78-70(b)." *See Health Promotion Specialists, Inc. v. South Carolina Bd. of Dentistry*, 403 S.C. 623, 635, 743 S.E.2d 808, 814 (2013) (emphasis added); *accord* S.C. Code § 15-78-200 (SCTCA "is the exclusive and sole remedy for any tort committed by an employee of a governmental entity while acting within the scope of the employee's official duty."); *Proctor v. Dep't of Health & Env'tl Ctrl.*, 368 S.C. 279, 290, 628 S.E.2d 496, 502 (Ct. App. 2006) ("The [SCTCA] governs all tort claims against governmental entities and is the *exclusive* civil remedy available in an action against a governmental entity or its employees.") (emphasis added).

"Because the Tort Claims Act provides the 'exclusive' remedy for torts committed by governmental employees, unless an exception applies, the statute of limitations contained within the act will apply." *See Loadholt v. Cribb*, No. 2004-UP-238, 2004 WL 6251537, at \*3 (Ct. App. Apr. 12, 2004). Under the SCTCA, Plaintiff Mr. Molloy must have commenced this lawsuit "within two years after the date the loss was or should have been discovered." *See* S.C. Code § 15-78-110.<sup>1</sup> This statute of limitations applies to both claims against governmental entities *and* those against individual governmental employees (if such claims are cognizable under the Tort Claims Act). *See Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 208, 584 S.E.2d 413, 419 (Ct. App. 2003).

Because the SCTCA "contains a definition of loss that differs from that of other statutes," the statutory period runs from the date of injury, not when Plaintiff Mr. Molloy learned what caused his injury. *See Bayle v. South Carolina Dep't of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 121-127, 542

---

<sup>1</sup> The period under the SCTCA may be extended to *three* years, "if the claimant first filed a claim pursuant to this chapter." *See* S.C. Code § 15-78-110. Mr. Molloy has presented no evidence that he would be entitled to the benefit of this rule.

S.E.2d 736, 739-42 (Ct. App. 2001) ("Bayle asserts the Circuit Court erred in defining 'loss' as the date of his wife's death rather than the date he learned of a possible latent defect in the road surface. We disagree."). "Under the Tort Claims Act, however, the statute of limitations begins to run when the plaintiff should know that he might have a potential claim against another, not when he develops a full-blown theory of recovery." *Joubert v. South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs.*, 341 S.C. 176, 190, 534 S.E.2d 1, 8 (Ct. App. 2000).

The statute of limitations under the SCTCA is also governed by a discovery rule, which can delay the running of the statute of limitations:

Actions brought under the Act are subject to the discovery rule. *Joubert v. South Carolina Dept. of Soc. Services*, 341 S.C. 176, 190, 534 S.E.2d 1, 8 (Ct.App.2000). "According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered." *Id.* The statute does not necessarily run from the date of the negligent act, but from when the injury resulting from the negligent act is discovered or may be discovered by the exercise of "reasonable diligence." *Id.*, 341 S.C. at 190-91, 534 S.E.2d at 8. "The exercise of reasonable diligence means simply that an injured party must act with some promptness where the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist." *Snell v. Columbia Gun Exch., Inc.*, 276 S.C. 301, 303, 278 S.E.2d 333, 334 (1981). "The date on which discovery should have been made is an objective, not subjective, question." *Joubert*, 341 S.C. at 191, 534 S.E.2d at 9. Additionally, the fact that the injured party does not comprehend the full extent of his injuries is immaterial. *Dean v. Ruscon Corp.*, 321 S.C. 360, 364, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

*Knox v. Greenville Hosp. Sys.*, 362 S.C. 566, 570-71, 608 S.E.2d 459, 462 (Ct. App. 2005).

The statute does not run separately as to each defendant, but rather runs at one time for all claims based on the injury. *See Tollison v. B&J Machinery Co.*, 812 F. Supp. 618 (D.S.C. 1993); *accord Cline v. J.E. Faulkner Homes, Inc.*, 359 S.C. 367, 597 S.E.2d 27 (Ct. App. 2004); *McClain v. Jarrard*, 354 S.C. 218, 580 S.E.2d 763 (Ct. App. 2003); *Wiggins v. Edwards*, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994).

Plaintiff Mr. Molloy's claims of improper conduct in connection with RFP # 3910/120221 involve conduct occurring in 2012. Carolina Cleaning has done no work for Beaufort County since June 30, 2014. (*See R. p. 121 ¶ 69*). Plaintiffs did not file this lawsuit

until August 22, 2016. Under the Tort Claims Act's two-year statute of limitations, all of Plaintiffs' tort claims are time-barred. Plaintiff Mr. Molloy cannot proffer any evidence to support the invocation of the discovery rule or any other reason why the Court should not apply the two-year statute of limitations as to the tort claims, running from (at the absolute latest) June 30, 2014.

Mr. Molloy's only argument opposing the statute of limitations seems to be that he did not discover his claims until he obtained certain emails via a Freedom of Information Act request in September, 2014. However, Mr. Molloy present no evidence that, in the exercise of reasonable diligence, he could not have known of his alleged "loss" prior to that time. To the contrary, it is undisputed that Mr. Molloy knew of the termination of Carolina Cleaning's contract and the fact that Carolina Cleaning did not obtain contracts at the same time those incidents actually occurred. While he might not have known all of the details of Beaufort County's internal correspondence, he certainly was placed on notice of a potential claim and was under a duty to conduct a reasonable investigation into his claims. Mr. Molloy has not directed this Court to any record evidence justifying his failure to timely file this lawsuit.

Therefore, for the foregoing reasons, this Court should affirm the entry of summary judgment because Plaintiff Mr. Molloy's tort claims against Defendants were untimely.

**2. The Express Language of Carolina Cleaning's 2010 Agreement Precludes Any Claims Regarding the Termination of That Agreement**

Much of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint involves allegations that the County wrongfully terminated Carolina Cleaning's 2010 Agreement with Beaufort County. The plain language of the governing contractual documents makes clear that the County acted within its contractual rights. Therefore, the trial court properly granted Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment to the extent Mr. Molloy's claims center around the termination of Carolina Cleaning's contract.

The 2010 Agreement permitted the County to terminate (or not renew) for any reason. The 2010 Agreement provides for the following regarding its duration:

The term of this Agreement shall be for a period of one (1) year starting on November 1, 2010 and ending on October 31, 2011. There are four (4) one (1) year renewals available on this Contract all at the approval of Beaufort County. The Contract shall not exceed five (5) years.

(See R. p. 125 ¶ 5). The 2010 Agreement states that "[e]ither party may terminate this Agreement upon sixty (60) days' written notice to the other party." (See R. p. 126 ¶ 9). The RFP<sup>2</sup> for the 2010 Agreement states that "[t]he County may without cause terminate this contract in whole or in part at any time for its convenience." (See R. p. 153 ¶ 16.0 (emphasis added)). Under that provision, Carolina Cleaning "expressly waive[d] any claims for lost profit or consequential damages, delay damages, or indirect costs which may arise from the County's election to terminate this contract in whole or in part for its convenience." (See *id.*).

Under those terms, the County was free to terminate all, or part, of the 2010 Contract with notice for any reason or for no reason at all. There is nothing in the contractual documents that prohibited the County from terminating or not renewing the 2010 Contract — either *in toto* or as to certain locations — for any reason, including making the choice to have those services provided in-house. Over time, the County exercised its contractual right to terminate the 2010 Contract in part as to certain locations. (See R. pp. 230-33). With regard to the remaining locations, rather than extend the 2010 Contract any further, the County exercised its right to not renew that contract and awarded the contract for the remaining locations to BCDSN. Plaintiff Mr. Molloy can cite to nothing in the 2010 Contract that prohibited it from terminating that agreement at-will or electing not to renew that contract.

While there is a covenant of good faith and fair dealing implied in every contract, "there is no breach of an implied covenant of good faith where a party to a contract has done what provisions of the contract expressly gave him the right to do." *Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC*, 414 S.C. 635, 653, 780 S.E.2d 263, 273 (Ct. App. 2015) (citation omitted).

---

<sup>2</sup> The 2010 Agreement provides that it "shall consist of all the terms, conditions, scope of work, specifications and provisions which are hereby incorporated and made part of this Contract Agreement, by reference, and contained in RFP # 3910/100566 dated May 27, 2010, Addendum # 1 dated May 18, 2010 and the Contractor's Proposal dated May 27, 2010." (See April 7, 2017 Thomas Aff. Ex. A, Contract for Janitorial Services).

Moreover, that implied covenant is not actionable as a separate cause of action. *See RoTec Servs., Inc. v. Encompass Servs., Inc.*, 359 S.C. 467, 473, 597 S.E.2d 881, 884 (Ct. App. 2004).

Therefore, to the extent Mr. Molloy's claims flow from the argument that Beaufort County improperly terminated the 2010 Contract, the trial judge properly granted Defendants summary judgment.

**3. The Trial Judge Properly Granted Summary Judgment Because Plaintiffs Failed to Assert Their Remedies Under the Beaufort County Procurement Code and the RFP/Contract Documents**

Plaintiff Mr. Molloy's claims are also without merit because Plaintiffs failed to exhaust certain administrative remedies before filing this action. The Beaufort County Procurement Code was adopted pursuant to the terms of the South Carolina Consolidated Procurement Code, which states (in relevant part) that "[a]ll political subdivisions of the State shall adopt ordinances or procedures embodying sound principles of appropriately competitive procurement . . . ." *See* S.C. Code § 11-35-50. The Beaufort County Procurement Code requires that pre-litigation steps be taken with regard to any claims by proposers or contractors:

(a) Right to protest. Any actual or prospective bidder, offeror or contractor who is aggrieved in connection with the solicitation or award of a contract under this division may protest to the purchasing director. *The protest shall be submitted in writing 14 days after such aggrieved person knows or should have known of the facts giving rise thereto.*

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